# ASSESSMENT OF LEGAL REGIME IN THE EFFECTIVE PROTECTION OF COPYRIGHT IN UGANDA

# BY NALWADDA CATHERINE LLB/10114/81/DU

# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF LAW IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF BACHELOR OF LAW OF KAMPALA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

**JULY 2012** 



#### **DECLARATION**

I NALWADDA CATHERINE of Registration Number; **LLB/10114/81/DU**, declare that the work embodied in this report is by my artistic efforts and has never been presented to any institution for this or any other award. Its reproduction without the author's or the university's consent will constitute an infringment in copyright.

Authors signature: Dally

NALWADDA CATHERINE

Date of Submission: 31. ASTAUST. 2012.

## **APPROVAL**

This piece of work has been under my supervision and now it is ready to be submitted to the external examiner.

Supervisor: MR. KYAZZE JOSEPH

Date: 315t July 2012

# **DEDICATION**

This book is dedicated to my parents, Dr. Sserwadda Charles and Mrs. Sserwadda Stephanie whose love, support and interest in what I was doing enabled me to endure and overcome all the hardships. You still remain to be a source of inspiration to my heart and a pillar of strength.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the Almighty God for granting me health, grace, love, care and knowledge for I have registered success all through. Glory and honour be unto him.

I also express my acknowledgement for support from various individuals who gave me their helping hand and caring heart. My special thanks go to:

My Supervisor, Mr. Joseph Kyazze for spending much of his time amidst his demanding schedule on guiding me and making sure that my research findings were excellent and orderly.

Mr. Bowen Joshua, for his kindness in granting me exposure in the legal practice, his words of encouragement, and advice are much appreciated.

My family members: Josiah B, Charles K, Rose N, Prosy, Francis N, Edwin S, and Lawrence S for their financial, moral support and encouragement throughtout my research. Your nobility and cind heart will never be taken for granted.

Lastly to my friends Nancy M, Emily T, Mark C, Duncan O, Rose N, Teddy N and many others for their countless support, encouragement and advise towards the success of the research. I leeply appreciate your wisdom for it has sustained and seen me through.

#### ABSTRACT

The above research was carried out on a cross-section of the East Africa region but emphasis on Uganda with an intention of examining the prevalence, causes, effect and factors impeding the effective protection of Copyrights.

The research attempts to trace the genesis of copyright and its progress to date, showing the shifts of circumstances that have occured overtime making Copyright more multifaceted and mystifying to the layman.

The research discusses, the sources of copyrights, giving them as the central cause of effective protection in East Africa.

The research gives a critical analysis to the Copyright laws in Uganda. The Copyrights Act 2006, The 1995 Constitution of the Republic of Uganda, The Access to Information Act of 2005, Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 2010.

The research will scrutinized the noble principle of client-advocate privilege in relation to Copyright law, given the allegation that this privilege hinders the effective protection of copyright. This having been argued as the most contentious element of the law on copyright in many jurisdictions, it is likely to prove its controversial nature, thus triggering further research on the same.

During the research process, different methods of data collection were are applied which neluded; questionnaires whereby information was gotten through structured questions containing both open and closed ended questions, interviews with professionals, observations which included fact finding missions whereby the researcher would observe the factors in the actual sense by interracting with the respondents, library research which involved comparisons of literature that was previously researched on a relevant field both in local and international evel.

Basing on the research findings, it can be concluded that the effective protection of copyright in Jganda calls for impementation of the laws present and enactment of others which are not yet

effective. Preventive measures need to be taken especially to counter the sources of piracy that form the subject of protection of Copyright

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATIONi
APPROVALii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiv
ABSTRACTv
CHAPTER ONE1
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Historical Background1
1.2 Statement of the Problem
1.3 The main objective of this study is:
1.3.1 The specific objectives are:
1.4 Scope of the Study9
1.5 Significance of the Study
1.6 Literature Review10
1.7 Research Methodology19
1.8 Techniques
1.8.1 Documentation20
1.8.2 Interviews
1.8.3 Methods20
1.8.4 Comparative method
1.8.5 Analytical method21
1.8.6 Scientific method21
CHAPTER TWO22
2.0 The Legal Framework Regulating Copyright and Incidental Matters in Uganda22
2.1 Scope of Copyright Protection22
2.2 Copyright flexibilities
2.2.1 'Fair use'
2.2.2 Provisions for teaching and learning27
2.2.3 Libraries and Archives27

2.2.4 Disabled Persons28
2.2.5 Quotation
2.2.6 Compulsory and Statutory Licensing
2.3 Other Laws and Policies connected to Copyright
2.3.1 The 1995 Constitution of the Republic of Uganda (as amended)29
2.3.2 The Access to Information Act of 2005
2.3.3 Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 201031
2.3.4 Judicial and Administrative Decisions31
2.3.5 Attorney General v Sanyu Television32
2.3.6 Uganda Performing Rights Society Limited v Fred Mukubira33
2.3.7 John Murray (Publishers) Ltd and Others v George William Senkindu and Another34
CHAPTER THREE
3.0 A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of the Copyright Legal Regime37
3.1 Government perspectives
3.2 Educational/user community41
3.3 Administrators, Enforcement Agencies or Professionals
3.4 Copyright-holders51
CHAPTER FOUR55
4.0 Findings
CHAPTER FIVE
5.0 Conclusions and Recommendation
5.1 Recommendations
BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### 1.0 Introduction

This chapter gives a broad overview of the copyright regime situation in Uganda. It is worth noting that copyright is premised on a Western philosophy of property ownership that seeks to reward an individual, who is considered to have worked hard to contribute to the good in society. It further analyses the objectives required to be satisfied in order to solve the intended problem the Methodology used in achieving the desired goals. It's concluded that Uganda has done well to comply with international conventions required in promoting and safeguarding infringement and protection policy of Copyright. However, Uganda still has a lot of work to do to protect her raditional knowledge and skills

#### 1.1 Historical Background

Copyright is a relatively recent development in Uganda; it was first introduced by the British, luring their colonial regime. Copyright in Uganda was initially designed to protect British authors and publishers within the Ugandan protectorate. In colonial times, Uganda was a protectorate rather than a colony – a system of indirect rule that granted Uganda some degree of autonomy from the British administration.<sup>1</sup>

HF Morris 'Sir Philip Mitchell and "Protected Rule" in Buganda' (1972) 13 Journal of African History 2 at 305-23.

Uganda is located in East Africa, to the northwest of Lake Victoria, and achieved independence from the British in 1962. Uganda's post-independence experience was marred by political upheavals and internal wars<sup>2</sup> – an analysis of which exposes the contradictory relationships and tensions between the state and different ethnic groups that existed long before state formation<sup>3</sup>.

Like many African countries, Uganda experimented first with socialist and then with free market ideologies after gaining independence from the British. In the early years, state corporations produced essential commodities for sale through private businesses mainly owned by the Asian community. Uganda's economic reforms started in the early 1980s, ushering in neo-liberal policies and leading to the dismantling of state corporations.

Political turmoil and wars instigated by dictator Idi Amin in the 1970s persisted through the 1980s, leaving a dysfunctional economy and state. Privatisation and broad economic reforms resumed after 1986 and continue to date. Since 1986, Uganda has registered fast macro-sconomic growth marked by a growing industrial base and expanding economic activity – except in the northern part of the country, which was subject to civil war until 2008. While Uganda has become a popular location for multinational corporations from within and outside Africa, the sountry remains a marginal player in the global economy

Copyright is a relatively recent development in Uganda, first introduced by the British, during heir colonial regime. Copyright in Uganda was initially designed to protect British authors and

S Rubaraza Karugire Roots of instability in Uganda (1996) Fountain Publishers, Kampala,

Holger Bernt Hansen and Michael Twaddle (eds) *Uganda now: between decay and development* (1995) ames Currey, London.

Henry Kyemba A state of blood: the inside story of Idi Amin (1977) Ace Books, New York.

publishers within the Ugandan Protectorate.<sup>5</sup> Historically, Uganda's copyright protection is a product of the common law system, owing to the country's British colonial heritage. The Judicature Act (Cap. 13) recognises the application of common law principles by Ugandan courts.<sup>6</sup>

Until August 2007, Uganda operated under the Copyright Act (Cap. 215) of 1964 (the 1964 Copyright Act), which was replaced by the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006 (the 2006 Copyright Act). The 1964 Copyright Act was never revised up until it was repealed, even though the corresponding British law of 1911 from which it was derived had been revised.<sup>7</sup>

Jganda is not party to the Berne Convention, but owing to the fact that many provisions of the Berne Convention are incorporated into the WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of ntellectual Property Rights (TRIPs Agreement), which Uganda is bound by, these Berne provisions nevertheless apply. The Appendix to the Berne Convention provides for statutory icences, primarily for translation and certain kinds of reproductions and while Uganda has not notified use of the Appendix, it has still enacted similar provisions within the 2006 Copyright Act. Section 17 of the 2006 Copyright Act provides for non-exclusive licensing for translation of work under certain prescribed circumstances — if the work is unavailable in a local language

In colonial times, Uganda was a Protectorate rather than a colony—a system of indirect rule that granted Uganda ome degree of autonomy from the British administration; see H.F. Morris 'Sir Philip and "protected rule" in luganda' (1972) 13 *Journal of African History* 2 at 305-323. Section 14 of the Judicature Act (Cap. 13).

J. Akubu 'Balancing features in Uganda's copyright law' in *Copyright and documentary film in the* '*commonwealth: legal scholar reports from six countries* (2009) Program on Information Justice and Intellectual roperty and Center for Social Media, American University, Washington, DC at 65. Available at <a href="http://www.wcl.american.edu/pijip/go/filmmakerpapers">ttp://www.wcl.american.edu/pijip/go/filmmakerpapers</a> [Accessed 1 April 2010].

one year after its initial publication or is unavailable in any form after a set period of years from first publication, depending on the nature of the work.

In April 1994, Uganda signed the Marrakech Agreement establishing the World Trade Organisation (WTO), requiring it to comply with, among other things, the TRIPs Agreement. Uganda has undertaken several legal reforms to comply with WTO rules, though significant work remains to be done. Uganda, being a least-developed country (LDC), was not obliged to comply with TRIPs until 2013 with respect to copyright. Yet, the 2006 Copyright Act largely implemented a number of the copyright provisions in TRIPs.

Jganda is not party to the 'WIPO Internet Treaties' (the WIPO Copyright Treaty [WCT] and the WIPO Performances and Phonograms Treaty [WPPT]) and is, therefore, not bound by these two nstruments. But Uganda is a member of the East African Community (EAC) alongside Kenya, Γanzania, Rwanda and Burundi, which resolved to update intellectual property laws to protect reative industries in the region. And Uganda is a member of the African Regional Intellectual Property Organisation (ARIPO) and is therefore required to harmonise intellectual property laws with other ARIPO members.<sup>8</sup>

This environment of external pressure, coupled with some internal demands from recording and performing artists, created the particular copyright policymaking environment in Uganda that eventually led to the 2006 Copyright Act. Due to its scant attention to teaching and learning ssues, the 2006 Copyright Act will have potentially serious consequences for education and

Ibid.

research. In general, the 2006 Copyright Act places great emphasis on copyright protection, which has the potential to limit access to educational and research materials.<sup>9</sup>

For the vast majority of Ugandans, especially in rural areas, copyright is the least of their concerns. This is not to suggest that the minority segment of the population, living in urban areas and more affected by the copyright system, necessarily appreciates the importance of copyright.

Until August 2007, Uganda operated under the Copyright Act Cap. 215 of 1964 ('the 1964 Copyright Act'), which was succeeded by the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

The objective of this new law was to replace and update the previous law. The repealed 1964 Copyright Act had never been revised in its history, despite the fact that it had existed in nearly he same form in Uganda since 1953, and even though the corresponding British law of 1911 from which it was derived had seen many revisions since its inception. Unlike the repealed 1964 Copyright Act, which primarily held to British tradition, the 2006 Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act is a hybrid of both the British and the American approaches. One alient feature of the hybrid nature of the 2006 Copyright Act is the importation of the concept of fair use', which is primarily an American copyright doctrine.

A. Mpeirwe 'Sellers of music and video CDs should mind the law' (22 March 2007) *The New Vision;* J. Wasula 'Is time to rejoice over copyright?' (22 March 2007) *The New Vision;* J. Wasula 'A copyright law was passed in Iganda two years ago' (20 June 2008) *The New Vision* at 19.

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Human development report 2007/2008: fighting limate change: human solidarity in a divided world (2008) UNDP, Nairobi, Kenya (as quoted in the UN Human Development Index).

I bid

Several factors led to the repeal of the 1964 Copyright Act. In April 1994, Uganda signed the Marrakesh Agreement establishing the World Trade Organisation (WTO). Article XVI of the Marrakesh Agreement provides that Member States shall ensure that their laws and regulations are brought to conform to the Member States' obligations under the Agreement. Consequently, there were various implementation measures that had to be undertaken by Uganda in order to comply with its membership in the WTO. Uganda is also a member of the East African Community (EAC) alongside Kenya, Tanzania, Rwanda and Burundi. The EAC resolved to update intellectual property laws to protect creative industries in the region. Uganda is also a member of the African Regional Intellectual Property Organisation (ARIPO), and is therefore required to harmonise intellectual property laws with the other regional group members. 12

This environment of external pressure, coupled with some internal demands from ecording/performing artists, created a certain kind of copyright policy making environment in Jganda. This policymaking environment led to a Private Member's Bill in 2004, the Copyright 3ill of 2004, which became the 2006 Copyright Act, which, because of its scant focus on eaching and learning exceptions, will have potentially serious consequences for education and esearch. The Member of Parliament responsible for the Bill was greatly influenced by the perspectives of musicians, and in general, the revised 2006 Copyright Act places great emphasis on enforcement – an emphasis which has the potential to limit access to educational and research materials. <sup>13</sup>

<sup>¹</sup> Ibid

Ibid.

Uganda has a relatively vibrant information sector, including a small but fast-growing publishing industry. Furthermore, Uganda has a liberalised telecommunications industry which has contributed tremendously to growth of the country's ICT sector. Given this infrastructure, education and research institutions are making increasing use of digital technology for both instruction and research. <sup>14</sup> Unfortunately, as will be seen in this report, the less-than-favourable copyright environment potentially stands in the way of full exploitation of ICTs and digital resources.

#### 1.2 Statement of the Problem.

Copyright ordinarily connotes a person's exclusive right to authorize certain acts with respect to a wide range of works such as every original literary, dramatic musical artistic work and computer programs. Copyright law protects expression of the idea rather than the idea per se. This serves as a general access mechanism because what is not protected by copyright is available to the public. This is because in the promotion of the public ideal of creativity, there should be no monopoly of ideas. Like all intellectual property rights, as articulated above copyright has a dual mandate of public interest and private benefit. Again the challenge of the application and interpretation of copyright law is to determine the proper balance between these nandates. Further, the rational for regulation and protection of copyright and neighbouring rights to ensure effective returns to those who are creative and innovative. The question that merits erious consideration, and thus a subject of discussion is whether the existing legal and policy ramework is capable of affording adequate protection to the stakeholders. The impact of

Thid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> John N. Berry, III -- Library Journal, 07/01/2000

technological advancement on copyright protection and the capacity of the legal framework to adapt to the massive and imminent technological challenges is worth consideration in this study. Further, the rational for regulation and protection of copyright and neighbouring rights is to ensure effective returns to those who are creative and innovative. The question that merits serious consideration, and thus a subject of discussion is whether the existing legal and policy framework is capable of affording adequate protection to the stakeholders<sup>16</sup>. The impact of technological advancement on copyright protection and the capacity of the legal framework to adapt to the massive and imminent technological challenges is worth consideration in this study.

#### 1.3 The main objective of this study is:

i). to review current Trade practices and to identify the conceptual issues and challenges for policy formulation and implementation of an effective Copyright regime in Uganda;

#### 1.3.1 The specific objectives are:

- i). to describe the capacity existing in Uganda and the analytical capacity in both research nstitutions and government departments to manage a satisfactory domestic Copyright regime and o engage in international Copyright discussions
- ii). to assist Uganda to promote coherence between their domestic economic policies and their nter-national trade policies.

<sup>5</sup> ibid

(iii). Identify the relevant national and regional actors, including intergovernmental, public, research and academic institutions, and private and civil society organizations.

#### 1.4 Scope of the Study

This dissertation, considers the trends in Copyright protection, administration, enforcement and research in Uganda. It identify status of the law and policy, the administrative and management nstitutions and the challenges that Uganda faces in implementing international treaties for the protection of Copyright. The study is covering entire Uganda seeking to map the terrain of Copyright protection and to identify the needs in terms of legislation, research and capacity.

# 1.5 Significance of the Study

From the moment an original work is fixed in a tangible medium of expression, copyright applies whether or not there is a notice of copyright affixed to the work. However, a copyright notice telps protect an original work by protecting against a claim of innocent infringement ("I didn't now it was copyrighted"), and by helping people who wish to license the work to find and ontact the author. The notice should be affixed in such a way as to give reasonable notice of the laim of copyright.

The research findings would be useful to, copyright owners, lawyers and judicial officers, cholars as well as to all Ugandans in understanding the role of copyright protection.

Furthermore, the data gathered from the result of this study shall serve as guide of other researchers in their quest for additional knowledge, concerning copyright protection and infringement. The research findings would also interest policy makers, as well as those involved in creative innovation and other related initiatives.

#### 1.6 Literature Review.

This part majorly deals with related literature comprising of findings, views and writings of recognized scholars and expert in Copyright regime in Uganda. It is worth noting that there is available literature on the subject of copyright though in essence any literature before 2006 is clearly based on the pre-existing legislation and may not capture the changes introduced by the 2006 Act and the most recent developments in the copyright world. This research while benefitting from the available literature also focuses on reconciling, adjusting and updating the available literature and contextualizing it to suit the modern changes.

However, literature on the intersection of copyright and access to knowledge is limited. This is attributed to two factors; first, there is a lack of a copyright culture, given the short history of the copyright system in Uganda and secondly, there is a general lack of awareness of copyright both in the academia and the Ugandan society at large.

A study of the Ugandan copyright law was undertaken in 2001 (eventually published in 2004) by he Uganda Law Reform Commission (hereinafter referred to as ULRC). According to this study, the review of the Copyright Act of 1964 was to further constitutional and international laws that require regular reviews of national legislation. Among the major reasons for the review revealed by the study was the desire to improve access to materials created by educators. Another compelling justification for reform was the changing technological scenario in Uganda and elsewhere in the world. The area of works that were to be protected by copyright had to be widened to cover other areas in light of international technological developments. Thus, the educational possibilities that might have been opened by technological developments were weighed against an emphasis on other issues, including stopping Ugandan and foreign rightsholders from being 'robbed' of their property.

JLRC drafted a Bill based on the assumption that the law would be used in accordance with Article 26 of the Constitution, which guarantees protection from deprivation of property, while Ilso furthering access to information, legal recognition of traditional and group rights and levelopment goals such as those in the Poverty Eradication Action Plan (PEAP).

9Unfortunately, findings and recommendations of this ULRC study were not fully integrated nto the Private Member's Bill that led to the 2006 Copyright Act.

A study by Edgar Tabaro, which is, essentially, a critique of the first draft Bill released in 2004, s useful in analysing the form of the eventual 2006 Copyright Act.<sup>20</sup> Tabaro analyses the oncepts and principles adopted by the Bill in the context of Uganda's national development bjectives and policy instruments. He argues that the Bill principally sought to update the 1964

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) A study report on copyright and neighbouring rights law (2004) ILRC Publication 9, at 18-19.

Ibid at 14

Ibid at xviii-xix.

lbid at xx.

Copyright Act and bring it to international standards at the expense of domestic objectives. According to Tabaro, comprehensive copyright legislation should be based on a more meaningful purpose in the national development process. His primary objective is to show that copyright should primarily serve the instrumentalist function of satisfying social goals and values, namely the creation, spreading and sharing of knowledge and further, that it should facilitate public use and access.<sup>21</sup>

Joseph Kakooza's study is an illuminating one on copyright law in Uganda prior to the enactment of the 2006 Copyright Act.<sup>22</sup> The study was aimed at analysing the state of copyright aw in Uganda at the year 2000, from the perspectives of what ought to be and what was. One unique weakness with the copyright law at the time, according to Kakooza, was the failure of the aw to protect the moral rights of the author. Studies like Kakooza's greatly influenced the umendment of copyright law in Uganda to eventually provide for the protection of moral rights.

Ronald Kakungulu-Mayambala's study<sup>23</sup> focuses on rights-holders, users and publishers', noting he world's changing technologies and the growing problem of piracy. New technologies, he concludes, present a great challenge to rights-holders, as digital technology permits the storage, ransmission, manipulation of and access to an author's work in ways unforeseen. With new echnologies, infringement of copyright is made easy and the usurping of the exclusive rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> E. Tabaro 'Copyright law reform in Uganda: addressing international standards at the expense of domestic bjectives' (2005) ACODE Policy Briefing Paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> J. Kakooza 'Note on the "is" and the "ought" of the law of copyright in Uganda' (2001) 112 Makerere Law ournal.

R. Kakungulu-Mayambala *The impact of new technologies on the protection, exercise and enforcement of opyrights and related rights* (2006) unpublished LLM dissertation, Lund University.

held by rights-holders is also made easy. He identifies a core area of conflict between the rights-holders and copyright users:

Intellectual property is based on the fundamental principle of balance — the balance between the interests and needs of the public and those of creators. This extrapolates to a balance between consumers versus innovators; public versus proprietary rights; *socialism versus capitalism*. When the legal systems that underpin intellectual property no longer maintain the correct balance or, even worse, neglect it, then respect for those systems and intellectual property erodes ... we should address this substitution of the foundations and principles of copyright by rules imposed by mere technical facts . . . failing to give an adequate and balanced answer to it would be stealing copyright from the public and giving it to the industry. The public is becoming more and nore contemptuous of copyright. This leads to an increasing tendency to infringe copyright. <sup>24</sup>

A study by Amir Bakidde-Mubiru examines Uganda's growing problem of copyright nfringement.<sup>25</sup> The purpose of the study is to establish how Uganda is dealing with the problem of infringement, while noting that this is an African problem. He notes that following the ntroduction of copyright law in Uganda, many changes have taken place in environments egulated by the law. He argues that Uganda's legal infrastructure is insufficient to address the rowing problem of copyright infringement. He observes that the problem is not simply the lack of legal infrastructure, but also a lack of awareness of the law by both users and owners of opyrighted materials.<sup>26</sup> Bakidde-Mubiru finds that illegal photocopying is rampant, as is music

<sup>1</sup> Ibid at 11-12.

A. Bakidde-Mubiru Copyright infringement, defenses and remedies: the case of Uganda (1998) unpublished issertation for the award of a Bachelor of Laws, Makerere University.

A point that was reiterated by interview participants for this study.

copying. He also takes note of ICTs used in sharing copyrighted resources. Academic institutions such as Makerere University allow extensive access to email and the Internet. The author argues that infringement is possible in such a technologically enabled environment. Infringement is also common in newspapers where some lift other papers' articles without acknowledgement or attribution. Bakidde-Mubiru observes that it is common for drama groups in Uganda to stage plays that belong to other groups, attributing this to the weaknesses in the law.

A study by Moses Kamoga-Matovu focuses on counteracting copyright and patent infringement n Uganda.<sup>27</sup> Writing about the 1964 Copyright Act, Kamoga-Matovu asserts that Uganda's weak IPR enforcement mechanism was likely to dissuade foreign direct investment since most nvestors want an environment with a strong IP regime. Kamoga-Matovu fears that without legal eform, development in general will be affected. His primary objective is to establish the mportance of copyright and patent law in Uganda. He examines the framework for technology ransfer in the context of copyright and its suitability to Uganda's development. In his study, Camoga-Matovu finds glaring evidence of copyright violation.

A study by Anthony Wabwire Musana addresses copyright and development.<sup>28</sup> The study is timed at 'assessing the utility of intellectual property protection in LDCs and Uganda in varticular, as a means of stimulating the development process'.<sup>29</sup> He finds that the consideration of IP 'assets' in the trade arena has engendered an impression of confrontation between leveloped and developing countries. Moreover, Uganda's copyright regime is inconsistent with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> M. Kamoga-Matovu Counteracting copyrights and patents infringement in Uganda (2000) unpublished issertation for the award of a Bachelor of Laws, Makerere University.

A.W. Musana Intellectual property: the case for copyright law in the economic development process in Uganda 1998) unpublished dissertation for the award of a Bachelor of Laws, Makerere University.

Ibid at 6.

the needs and aspirations of the people and the economy and the incentive to create is lost at the hands of lax protection systems.<sup>30</sup> Against that background, Musana argues that, for Uganda to attain 'meaningful development', it has to adopt an 'efficient, relevant and stricter IP protection system'.<sup>31</sup> He carries out qualitative interviews with individuals across the spectrum of the creative arts in Uganda but relies primarily on a critical legal analysis of Uganda's copyright law vis-à-vis protection of local content.

Musana's approach to education and copyright is one that focuses on creative individuals whose esources are used in the education process. He argues that the education system can thrive only f locally generated resources are protected in order to attract creative individuals into the levelopment of local resources. Musana observes that 'in recent times, due to the vigorous efforts of publishers such as Femrite Publishers [a local organisation promoting female writers], here has been a slight incentive to Ugandan authors to publish locally He further notes that the legal regime remains the most villainous constraint to authors' incentive to publish their vorks.

Agatha Ainebyona's study<sup>34</sup>on the impact of copyright law on the publishing industry in Uganda's a relatively recent report. It focuses on a defined target audience: publishers. The study takes on the of Uganda's growing publishing industry and also decries the growing problem of piracy. The latter is attributed to a number of factors including lack of awareness of the law, weaknesses

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Ibid at 10.

Ibid at 11.

lbid at 161.

Ibid at 161-2.

A. Ainebyona *The impact of the copyright law on the publishing industry in Uganda: a case study of various ublishing houses in Uganda* (2006) unpublished dissertation for the award of a Bachelor of Library and iformation Science, Makerere University.

in the law and low literacy rates. The author further identifies the foreign nature of copyright as another dimension of the copyright problem in Uganda. She argues that:

It must be observed, therefore, that this law was ill-conceived from the onset because it did not account [for] Ugandan circumstances. It was not fitting in time and space.<sup>35</sup>

Quoting Henry Chakava, a prominent East African publisher,<sup>36</sup> she notes that copyright has been used by publishers in the North (multinational publishing entities) to deter their counterparts in Africa from meeting local demand. Consequently, African publishers remain heavily dependent on foreign publishers, with copyright acting as a stick.

Ainebyona's study seeks to examine copyright in the publishing industry and its relationship to he growth of the publishing market. She gathered evidence from publishers and authors in the Jgandan book sector through a quantitative survey that featured questions on awareness of the aw, availability of information on copyright, copyright-related problems and utilisation or mplementation of the law. Her study reveals that the vast majority of publishers are aware of the aw, although many have never read the fine print. Consequently, ignorance of the law is as high mong publishers as it is in the general public. Publishers also observed that there is a lack of government machinery in charge of copyright. On the ever-present issue of piracy, publishers overwhelmingly agreed that piracy was an enigma seriously undercutting their profitability. Some respondents argued, however, that piracy provided low-income groups with affordable extbooks which would otherwise be priced out of range. This affirms the intuitive assertion that iracy fills a gap left by the formal industries.

i Ibid .

bid.

A review of copyright law in Uganda by Ruth Nassolo<sup>37</sup> is not significantly different from the study by Ainebyona. Nassolo cites the lack of effective administration of the law, weak enforcement and lack of awareness among stakeholders (primarily referring to rights-holders) as a recipe for a problematic copyright environment.

Elizabeth Lumu's study<sup>38</sup> of piracy focuses on the *John Murray* case. Based on the facts of the case, she frames the piracy problem as stemming not just from the users' quest for cheap copies out also bookshops as their accomplices. Lumu's study is partly a critical analysis of the wider mplications of the *John Murray* case as well as a survey of publishers and book distributors on ssues relating to piracy.

Lumu notes that piracy is driven in part by the fact that school textbooks for primary and secondary schools dominate the book market. The market for textbooks is ever-growing, butstripping all other publishing segments. Additionally, foreign textbooks dominate the curriculum due to the British influence. Today, their dominant position remains but also creates a avourable environment for piracy, since the pirates do not feel the presence of the owner. In the survey part of her study, Lumu interviews stakeholders (publishers, booksellers) about wareness, the impact of piracy, the availability of copyright information, challenges and problems faced by publishers and possible remedies. The responses are largely predictable: a najority is aware of the law and piracy and illiteracy are their main problems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> R. Nassolo *A review of copyright law in Uganda* (2001) unpublished dissertation for the award of a Bachelor of library and Information Science, Makerere University.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> E. Lumu *The impact of piracy on Uganda's publishing industry: a case study of Kampala New Styles Bookshop td versus John Murray* (1999) unpublished dissertation for the award of a Master of Science in Information cience, Makerere University.

The only presence for most is a local agency, mostly book distributors (bookshops), some unreliable as the *John furray* case revealed.

Lumu concludes that 'information hungry students, therefore, have no choice but to reproduce any material that will be of use to them for their studies. In any case there is nothing illegal about it.<sup>40</sup>

Makerere University's Research and Intellectual Property Management (IPM) Policy was also reviewed in the context of relevant literature. Of the more than 20 universities in Uganda, it is only Makerere — the biggest and oldest public university in the country and even the region — hat had an Intellectual Property Management Policy at the time of this study. This policy is relatively new, having been passed in March 2008. The aim of the policy is to stimulate and support innovative thinking among students and staff and to enable ownership and efficient nanagement of intellectual assets and innovations produced at Makerere University. In addition, mplementation of the IPM Policy is designed to increase potential income from research activity.

n conclusion the policy also provides for ways of sharing the benefits that accrue from ntellectual property. The policy is a response to the call by the Inter-University Council for East Africa (IUCEA), which recommended that universities and research institutions in Eastern Africa should develop institutional policies and build capacity to manage IP. The IUCEA argues

lbid.

The policy was approved by the University Council — the top governing body of the university—at its 112th leeting held on Thursday 13 March 2008.

Regulation 2.0 of the policy.

that without an institutional IP policy and the capacity required to implement such policies, it is impossible to manage IP, regardless of existing national IP laws.<sup>43</sup>

#### 1.7 Research Methodology

Research methodology is the part of a research work in which the techniques and methods to be used in conducting a research are described<sup>44</sup>. Research methodology includes both Research Techniques and Research methods. The techniques and methods used during this research are discussed below.

# 1.8 Techniques

The research techniques used included documentation and interviews as explained in the ollowing paragraphs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a more detailed discussion of this topic see the East African Regional Programme and Research Network for iiotechnology, Biosafety and Biotechnology Policy Development (BIO-EARN), Policy Brief 1, of January 2008. vailable at <a href="http://www.bio-earn.org">http://www.bio-earn.org</a> [Accessed 25 November 2008].

The Free Dictionary by FARLEX, available on: medical-dictionary.the-freedictionary.com, accessed on 8/07/2009.

#### 1.8.1 Documentation

This will involve analysis of secondary data by consulting textbooks on Intellectual property Law, Copyright Law, Ugandan legal texts, legal texts of other countries on Copyright, websites, papers presented in national and international seminars on copyright, conferences and workshops.

#### 1.8.2 Interviews

n order to obtain data related to the objectives of this research, selected individuals from lifferent profession were interviewed this included judges ,Copyright/intellectual property awyers from Uganda registration service bureau, Students, official of the National Book Trust of Uganda (NABOTU) in order to grasp the practical approach to assessment of legal regime in the effective protection of copyright in Uganda

#### .8.3 Methods

he methods used during the research work included comparative method, analytical method, ynthetic method, and scientific method.

## 1.8.4 Comparative method

Comparative method was used to carry out a comparative study of doctrine and jurisprudence from Copyright laws of other countries. The identified best practices applied by those countries will be recommended to be adopted and applied in Uganda

# 1.8.5 Analytical method

Through analytical method, the researcher study and analyze different legal texts and data which was collected using different techniques.

## 1.8.6 Scientific method

The scientific method was an indispensable tool in the interpreting different text books and legal exts that was be consulted during this work.

Strange L. J.

#### CHAPTER TWO

# 2.0 The Legal Framework Regulating Copyright and Incidental Matters in Uganda.

This chapter majorly deals with the scope of copyright, the legal frame work regulating copyright in Uganda, the law regulating copyright, the works protected under the Copyright Act, Eligible works, qualification, the derivative works, people claiming ownership, how infringes occurs and remedies there under

# 2.1 Scope of Copyright Protection

Section 5 of the Copyright Act of 2006 outlines the specific types of protected works in Uganda. These works include literary, scientific and artistic works (including computer programs, llustrations and traditional folklore and knowledge), as well as derivative works such as ranslations, transformations and collections. The works are defined in Section 2 of the Act. Section 6 of the Act makes it clear that ideas are not protected by copyright and Section 7 excludes from copyright protection 'public benefit works' such as laws and government reports.

Praditional knowledge and folklore are included as works eligible for copyright protection in lection 5(1) (j). However, the Act does not elaborate on how this knowledge and these resources re to be protected. Moreover, the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 2010 are ilent on how traditional knowledge and folklore will be specifically protected. In any case, lection 3(1) of the Regulations sets stringent registration standards requiring proof of ownership

of protected materials.<sup>45</sup> Most traditional knowledge and folkloric resources are collectively owned and in some cases considered part of the public domain. Therefore, they cannot pass this standard.

The rights-holders' economic rights are outlined in Section 9 of the Act and include publication, listribution, broadcasting and communication to the public.

Furthermore, the law recognizes and protects moral rights under Section 10. These moral rights are non-assignable<sup>46</sup> and include rights to:

- Claim authorship of the work;
- Have the author's name or pseudonym mentioned or acknowledged each time use is made of the work;
- Object to and seek relief in, cases of unauthorized distortion, mutilation, modification or alteration of the work; and
- Withdraw the work from circulation if the author so chooses.

lection 13(8) of the 2006 Copyright Act assigns moral rights in perpetuity, enforceable by the uthor or his or her successors after death.

n general, the duration of copyright in Uganda keeps to the standard requirements laid out in the elevant international instruments such as the Berne Convention and TRIPs. The 2006 Copyright

Section 3(1) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 2010.

Section 10(3) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

Act affords economic rights protection, in most cases, for 50 years after the death of the author.<sup>47</sup> For audiovisual works, sound recordings and broadcasts, the economic rights of the author are protected until the expiration of 50 years from the date of making the work or from the date the work was made available to the public with the consent of the author.<sup>48</sup> In the case of photographic works and computer programs, the economic rights of the author are protected for 50 years from the date of making the program available to the public.<sup>49</sup>

Public benefit works' are not entitled to copyright protection.<sup>50</sup> Public benefit works include government works and legal proceedings. Specifically, Section 7 of the 2006 Copyright Act provides that enactments, decrees, orders or decisions by a court of law, as well as reports made by committees or commissions of inquiry appointed by government, are not subject to copyright protection. The works specifically provided for in Section 7 are usually publicly accessible. However, when a person creates work under the direction or control of the government, unless otherwise agreed, the copyright in respect of that work vests with the government.<sup>51</sup>

Court judgments and transcripts of Parliamentary proceedings are freely available online. But overnment works that are printed by the Uganda Publishing and Printing Corporation (UPPC), uch as the national Gazette, must be purchased. The government's view is that printed naterials, as opposed to online materials, cost money to produce and thus cannot be free imilarly, printed materials from the Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) and Uganda

Section 13 of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006

Section 13(5) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

Section 13(6) and (7) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

Section 7 of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

Section 8(2) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006.

National Examination Board (UNEB) are also available only on a fee-paying basis. And even the free online government material is relatively inaccessible in Uganda, due to poor ICT infrastructure and low levels of Internet penetration.

The 2006 Copyright Act makes no mention of digital rights management (DRM) systems or echnological protection measures (TPMs).

Section 46 of the 2006 Copyright Act lays out how and whether parallel importation of copyright-protected works may constitute an infringement of copyright. Section 47 of the Act lescribes the related offences and penalties in more detail. According to Section 46(1) (a)

nfringement of copyright or neighbouring right occurs where, without a valid transfer, license, issignment or other authorisation under this Act a person deals with any work or performance contrary to the permitted free use and in particular where that person does or causes or permits mother person to —

Reproduce, fix, duplicate, extract, imitate or import into Uganda otherwise than for his or her wn private use;

Thus, parallel importation is not permitted without some form of agreement with the copyright-older.

#### 2.2 Copyright flexibilities

#### 2.2.1 'Fair use'

Fair use,' outlined in Section 15 of the Act, exempts the user from seeking the rights-holder's consent for use of a work in the course of research, teaching, criticism and review, news reporting, public library reproduction, judicial proceedings or translation into Braille or sign anguage. The 2006 Copyright Act does not specify what portion of a work can be used under air use, but Section 15(2) provides for consideration of 'the purpose and character of the use, ncluding whether the use is of a commercial nature or is for non-profit educational purposes, as well as consideration of the 'nature' of the work being used, 'the amount and substantiality of the nortion used' and the effect on the 'potential market' for the work when it is decided whether a use falls in the realm of fair use. The discretion therefore lies with the courts in interpreting the rovision. And although there is no express provision for protection of digital works, it can be rgued that Section 15 applies equally to digital and non-digital works.

Notably, the earlier 1964 Copyright Act contained a 'fair dealing' provision<sup>52</sup> instead of fair use. The old fair dealing provision was concise and stringent; the new fair use provision is arguably nore liberal and flexible. The shift from fair dealing to fair use potentially creates a window to viden access, provided that the courts (in case of a dispute) interpret fair use liberally. Much

Section 7(2)(a) of the Copyright Act of 1964.

would depend on whether the listed categories are interpreted as illustrative or exhaustive of permitted activities.

#### 2.2.2 Provisions for teaching and learning

Section 15 of the Act subsumes fair use for teaching purposes in schools, colleges and other educational institutions if it is 'fair'. The Act is, however, silent on distance and e-learning, as well as on the number of copies of works or illustrations permitted to be used in terms of the eaching exception. Moreover, the fair use provision is quite broad, making it difficult to predict now the law regulates specific scenarios.

#### 2.2.3 Libraries and Archives

Libraries and archives are important gateways to accessing knowledge. There is a brief mention, in the Section 15 fair use provision, of reproduction by public libraries and non-commercial locumentation centre's being allowed under fair use. Thus, in publicly accessible libraries and non-commercial documentation centres, copying of works and limits on the number of copies remitted, depend on interpretation of Section 15 on fair use.

n practice, regardless of the legal provisions in place, it is possible to copy and utilise substantial ortions of works from both publicly accessible libraries and commercial libraries. Though the aw seeks to limit what may be photocopied, its enforceability is very limited in Uganda. This ids access to knowledge generally, but in the long run, creators of such works might more igorously enforce their rights, thus curtailing access.

There is no express public lending rights (PLRs) provision under the Act, meaning that there is no provision for libraries to pay fees to rights-holders for the practice of lending out copyright works.

#### 2.2.4 Disabled Persons

There are no detailed provisions for people with a disability under the 2006 Copyright Act — only a single mention under Section 15 of the Act in terms of fair use, where reference is made to ranscription of a work into Braille or sign language. Thus, for visually impaired people, the air use provision provides for translations of works into Braille, subject to the fairness test. This provision would mean that the entity doing the transcription would not need to apply for a icence to adapt into Braille, or to remunerate rights-holders for this adaptation. Further, there are specific restrictions on the sharing of such material and export or import of such material; general copyright rules would apply to such activities.

#### 1.2.5 Quotation

Quotations are dealt with under fair use in Section 15(1)(b) of the Act, which specifies that as vell as the quotation being fair in terms of the criteria outlined in Section 15(2), the quotation nust be 'compatible with fair practice' and the extent of the quotation should 'not exceed what is

Section 15(1)(k) of the Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act of 2006 states that works 'transcribed into 3]raille or sign language for [the] educational purpose of persons with disabilities' can be covered by the fair use xception.

justified for the purpose of the work in which the quotation is used; ...' In addition, acknowledgement must be given 'to the work from which the quotation is made'.

## 2.2.6 Compulsory and Statutory Licensing

The 2006 Copyright Act does not explicitly provide for compulsory licensing. However, Section 17 provides for the granting by the government of a nonexclusive licence (statutory licence) to reproduce a work or to translate and make reproductions of a work into English, Kiswahili or any other Ugandan language. Section 18(1)(c) specifies that such a licence must be for teaching, research or scholarship purposes and Sections 18(2) and 18(3) list conditions that must be satisfied before the government issues such a licence and the circumstances under which the icence terminates. The translation provisions enacted into the Act mirror those in the Appendix o the Berne Convention (as previously noted).

## 2.3 Other Laws and Policies connected to Copyright

# 2.3.1 The 1995 Constitution of the Republic of Uganda (as amended)

The Constitution is the supreme law of the land and all other laws, including copyright law, must dhere to it. The Constitution guarantees several rights and freedoms that have significance for opyright, either by enhancing access to knowledge or by concretising the protection afforded to ights-holders. Some of the relevant provisions for the purpose of this study are:

• Article 30 guaranteeing the right to education;

- Article 41 on the right of access to information;
- Article 29 guaranteeing freedom of expression; and
- Article 26 on the right to property.

#### 2.3.2 The Access to Information Act of 2005

Pursuant to Article 41 of the Constitution, Parliament enacted the Access to Information Act, which essentially provides for the public's right of access to information when such information s in possession of the state or any state agencies, so long as such information does not prejudice national security, the sovereignty of the state or the right of privacy of any other person. The Act calls for accessibility of information to the public, prescribes forms of access and puts in place procedures, institutions and mechanisms to enable access to information.

The Act does, however, protect the rights of copyright-holders, in cases where the information ecord requested is not a copyright-free 'public benefit work' or when the copyright is not owned by the state or the public body from which the information record is being sought. The Act tates that when information is requested in a particular form, access in that form may be denied it amounts to an infringement of copyright. Similarly, when a record is made available to any erson under the Act, that person may make copies of or transcribe the record using his or her quipment unless doing so amounts to an infringement of copyright.

Section 5 of the Access to Information Act of 2005. Section 20(8)(c) of the Access to Information Act of 2005. Section 20(3) of the Access to Information Act of 2005.

## 2.3.3 Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 2010

The 2010 Regulations for the 2006 Copyright Act primarily serve to provide a process for the registration of copyright and neighbouring rights, or any assignment, licensing or transfer of a copyright or neighbouring right. It is important to note that registration is optional under Section 43 of the 2006 Copyright Act. However, under Section 43(6) of the Act it is mandated that the Registrar must issue a certificate as proof of registration. This certificate acts as an incentive to register copyright and neighbouring rights, since such a certificate can be taken as conclusive proof of ownership of the right. The Regulations also streamline the registration and regulation of collecting societies.

#### 2.3.4 Judicial and Administrative Decisions

The law in Uganda obliges parties to a dispute to settle the matter out of court as the first option. Only after such efforts have failed may a hearing be fixed to try the matter in court. This has led o many copyright cases being settled out of court and in such cases there is no record of the legotiations and terms of settlement. The law responsible in this case is the Arbitration and Conciliation Act.<sup>57</sup>

itigation in relation to cases involving copyright infringement has until recently been very mited. But the trend now is that the Commercial Court — a branch of the High Court of Jganda — is registering intellectual property cases. Several have been registered, a majority of thich are still ongoing. There are three decided cases from the Commercial Court that are

Arbitration and Conciliation Act of 2000 (Cap. 4).

relevant to Uganda's copyright environment. Of these, the *John Murray* case has the most direct bearing on access to learning materials.

# 2.3.5 Attorney General v Sanyu Television<sup>58</sup>

The Attorney General, as a representative of Uganda Television, a public television station, filed 1 suit against the respondent/defendant for infringement of broadcasting rights. It was the plaintiff/applicant's case that by means of an agreement with the Union of National Radio and Felevision Organisations of Africa (URTNA) and Canal France International (CFI), Uganda Felevision was granted exclusive rights to broadcast live coverage of the 1998 World Cup ootball series and that the respondent had infringed these rights by screening the matches on its elevision station, Sanyu TV. The applicant made the present application for an injunction estraining the respondent from further broadcasting the matches pending disposal of the main uit. Counsel for the respondent challenged the application arguing that the suit and application and been made against the wrong party, which was a non-legal entity.

ames Ogoola, J., held that the respondent infringed the plaintiff's copyright. The respondent dmitted having infringed the copyright and apologized for the act. As a result, the application vas allowed and an injunction granted.

High Court Civil Suit No. 614 of 1998, reported in *Uganda Commercial Law Reports 1997-2001* (2005) 184-190 : 185, Blackhall Publishing, Dublin, Ireland.

# 2.3.6 Uganda Performing Rights Society Limited v Fred Mukubira<sup>59</sup>

The applicant, Uganda Performing Rights Society, as the assignee of copyright in the musical works of various local artists in Uganda, filed a suit against the respondent for alleged copyright infringement. The applicant sought a permanent injunction and damages for infringement. Further to the suit, the applicant applied ex parte for a temporary injunction to restrain the respondent from further infringement of copyright. The applicant also sought orders to search the respondent's premises and seize all material relating to the copyright infringement. The main ssues at the hearing of the application were whether the Court had authority to grant the emporary injunction, whether the applicant satisfied the conditions for grant of an order and whether the suit was properly brought under Section 13 of the 1964 Copyright Act.

## Beoffrey Kiryabwire, J., held that:

- Section 13 of the Copyright Act provides a remedy of direct statutory prohibitory injunction in cases of copyright infringement;
- In the instant case, where the application was made ex parte for a temporary injunction,
   pending disposal of the main suit based on Sections 38 and 39(2) of the Judicature Act
   alone, the Court did not have sufficient legal authority to grant the order;
- The three conditions for grant of search and seizure orders are that: there must be an extremely strong prima facie case, the potential or actual damage to the applicant must be

Misc. Application 818 of 2003 (Arising from High Court Civil Suit 842 of 2003), reported in *Uganda* 'ommercial Law Reports 2002-2004 (2005) at 476, Zebra Graphics Ltd, Kampala, Uganda.

serious and there must be clear evidence that the respondents have in their possession incriminating materials which they may destroy before any application inter parties can be made; and

• The Application satisfied all the conditions for grant of the order.

As a result, the application was granted.

# 2.3.7 John Murray (Publishers) Ltd and Others v George William Senkindu and Another<sup>60</sup>

in 1997 the plaintiffs brought an action against the defendants for infringement of copyright in he book *Introduction to biology* alleging, among other things, that the first defendant was selling counterfeit copies of the book in his Kampala Newstyles bookshop, thus causing a decline in the plaintiff's sales.

Ntabgoba, J., found that the books sold by the first defendant were counterfeit. Relying on Section 2(a) of the 1964 Copyright Act, it was found that the plaintiffs had copyright protection n Uganda and the judge went to great length to explain the significance of the Universal Copyright Convention of 1952 (as amended). Further it was stated that under Section 11(1) of he Copyright Act, the plaintiff did not have to prove 'knowledge' of the infringement by the efendant and hence, under that Section, strict liability was imposed on the defendant with no turden on the plaintiff to prove the knowledge of infringement on the part of the defendant.

HCCS 1018 of 1997 (unreported).

Accordingly, the plaintiffs were awarded UGX10 710 000 (Uganda shillings) in lieu of actual loss incurred by the plaintiffs, considering that each of the 765 copies sold had been sold at UGX14 000. In addition, they were awarded UGX6 000 000 as further damages. Finally, the court granted the plaintiffs a permanent injunction restraining the defendant, his/her agents or servants from committing further infringements against the plaintiff's copyright.

Kampala Newstyles, which was at the time one of the biggest bookshops in Uganda, collapsed as a result of this case. This demonstrates the significant, practical effect that copyright can have, if and when it is enforced.

While the 2006 Copyright Act addresses many requirements of the relevant international nstruments to which Uganda is a signatory, much can be done to improve access to learning naterials. As it stands, the Act includes a fair use clause that does not define clearly what is permissible and what is not. While Uganda's fair use doctrine seems to be an improvement on the more restrictive fair dealing provisions in the 1964 Act, it alone is not reliable enough to quarantee adequate access to learning materials, given the vague nature of the four factors that nust be considered when determining fairness.

Also, considering the increasing use of digital technologies and the Internet, it can be argued that here is a constraining lack of provisions in the 2006 Copyright Act to regulate the digital nedium. The current law, for example, makes no attempt to enable distance learning. However, t the same time the absence of provisions protecting DRM in general and TPMs specifically, rovides a window for accessing electronic resources under fair use, for example by those at ertiary institutions with good access to ICTs.

Meanwhile, from the available case law, it would seem that judges are strictly interpreting and enforcing the law in the limited numbers of disputes that have been litigated. In particular, the *John Murray* case has serious implications for access to learning materials. Not only did a key node in the book distribution chain disappear as a result of the case, the high damages awarded sent a strong message to infringers and non-infringers alike.

#### CHAPTER THREE

In order to obtain data related to the objectives of this research, selected individuals from different profession were interviewed in order to grasp the practical approach to effectiveness of copyright legal regime in the regulation and protection of copyright in Uganda.

## 3.0 A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of the Copyright Legal

## Regime

interviews were conducted with judges, IP/copyright lawyers, a musician, a librarian who deals with digital material, a representative of publishers and university students.

The largest numbers of interviews were students; four were conducted with judges in the idministrators, enforcement agencies or professionals' category. The choice of judges as nterviewees underscored the importance of the judicial system in Uganda's copyright invironment. The few copyright-related cases in Uganda were handled by at least one of the udges interviewed, making their input invaluable to the understanding of the current thinking of he Commercial Court on a wide range of copyright and access issues. The judges represent a ignificant body of knowledge of copyright in Uganda. Two of the judges specialised in opyright in the digital environment, including copyright on the Internet and technological rotection measures (TPMs). Another interviewee, a retired judge, has worked extensively with ne World Intellectual Property Organisation (WIPO) and related international and regional reganisations.

Two interviews were conducted with copyright/intellectual property lawyers — one in the administration, enforcement and professional category and another in the government category. One of these lawyers has represented a number of parties in copyright cases. He is also a faculty member at Makerere University, teaching and researching in intellectual property. The second awyer was instrumental in the drafting of the Bill leading to the 2006 Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act.

Also in the enforcement category, an informal interview was conducted with an official from the Jganda Registration Services Bureau, an agency in the Ministry of Justice and Constitutional Affairs. The Bureau houses the Intellectual Property desk, which administers a wide range of ntellectual property matters including copyright, trademark and patent registrations.

for the educational and user communities, interviews were conducted with students (one group nterview and one individual interview), a digital librarian and a university official responsible or research. The group interview with students was conducted with three female students ocusing primarily on the nexus of copyright, access and gender. The second student interview was conducted with a male law student specialising in intellectual property rights.

The rights-holders group was represented by an official of the National Book Trust of Uganda NABOTU). NABOTU represents different actors in the book sector, including writers, ublishers, distributors and printers. The second rights-holder interview was conducted with a rominent local musician and award-winning songwriter. This musician is one of the most vocal n copyright matters. He was part of the core group of musicians that lobbied government to mend the 1964 Act, leading to the 2006 Act.

## 3.1 Government perspectives

The one formal interview in this category was conducted with a lawyer who was associated with he amendment of the 1964 Copyright Act. The bulk of findings in this category represent our nteraction with this individual. We also share anecdotes from the informal interview with the official from the Uganda Registration Services Bureau.

The key interviewee is not formally part of the government now, but worked closely with the Member of Parliament (the Hon. Jacob Oulanyah) who authored the Private Member's Bill Copyright Bill of 2004) that led to the 2006 Copyright Act. When asked why they embarked on he review of the 1964 Copyright Act, he cited major inadequacies and weaknesses in the old Act is the reason. He noted that:

t [the 1964 Act] had been overtaken by modern developments, which rendered the law hapless. The need to eradicate this problem became more urgent with new technologies. This coupled with the fact that the Ministry of Justice was taking an inordinately long time to reform the law, shallenged us to work hand in hand with Hon. Oulanyah to cause a reform of the law.

While this interviewee did not elaborate as to what caused the delay, one can attribute it to nstitutional inadequacies. The Ministry of Justice and the Uganda Law Reform Commission ULRC), had commissioned the study of the copyright environment early in 2001, but technical and administrative problems delayed the study and issuing of the report until 2004.

Asked whether access to learning materials was of particular concern, the interviewee said that hey did not look at specifics but approached the law in general. (The provisions of the 2004 Bill

and eventual 2006 Act show that clearly learning materials were a marginal or non-factor in consideration of amendments.)

When asked about the copyright environment in relation to access to learning materials, he described the relationship as 'dysfunctional' because users do not understand copyright and this has led to unabated copying with no regard to the law. He characterised the situation as dire because the practice of copying entire texts 'has come to be accepted and it is widely in use especially in our higher institutions of learning'. This has led to a situation where 'there are more birated learning materials copies in the market as opposed to the actual copies'. This participant preferred the copyright environment to be stricter. Relying on the vaguely defined fair use loctrine, the interviewee argued that at the doctrinal level, the current law provides for the palance between 'protecting copyright and access to learning material'. This balance, he argued, would eventually lead to a profitable publishing industry, enticing more authors to write and eventually to a thriving learning materials environment.

According to this interviewee, the current law devoted a significant amount of time to collective ights management. The lawyer took note of these organisations as presenting major problems nd unintended consequences, for the current law: 'the more established collecting societies are uppressing upcoming societies'. Notwithstanding the shortfalls identified in the doctrinal ection, the participant insisted that the law should be 'implemented in totality'. that is, no mendment is necessary at the moment.

another seemingly unintended consequence of the new Act is the dynamic created by bringing opyright matters into the ambit of the Uganda Registration Services Bureau, under the Ministry

of Justice and Constitutional Affairs. The informal interview with the Uganda Registration Services Bureau representative revealed that copyright matters are competing with other IP areas, many of which are more lucrative to the agency. According to the official, the poorly staffed desk finds itself attending to registration of trademarks and patents more than copyright because these two areas bring in more revenue. Personnel are generally not keen to handle copyright, which is the reason why the Bureau has not carried out sufficient awareness efforts beyond musicians and artists. The official was of the view that the Act should have created a separate entity to handle copyright matters. A copyright board or commission is needed in the ast-growing Ugandan environment. Due to the workload with other IP areas, the best the desk has done is draft Copyright Regulations. These have taken time to finalise due to shortage of nanpower and competing interests.

This interviewee did not feel there was a gender dimension to copyright. Copyright law was received by the participant as gender-neutral. He suggested that there is insufficient evidence reyond anecdotes to suggest a gender bias.

## 3.2 Educational/user community

nterviewees in this category stated that a significant section of the Ugandan educational opulation is ignorant of the law. Several participants in this and other categories identified lack f awareness as the cause of the rampant infringement. They strongly encouraged awareness ampaigns as a mechanism for curbing infringement. For instance, Makerere's new Policy on tesearch and Intellectual Property Rights Management calls for sensitisation of the university ommunity in intellectual property matters, including copyright. Makerere's initial efforts

targeted Deans and Directors across campus with the hope that the message would filter through to students and other members of the university community. The librarian interviewed was cautious, pointing to lack of human resources to undertake such awareness and enforcement activities.

Students decried the worsening access situations due to rising costs of essential learning naterials in specialised areas. The same students pointed to the increased ease of access to electronic resources. But the digital or online resources remain restricted to campus environments, making it difficult for off-campus students to access resources available to on-tampus students. The librarian noted that: 'In terms of textbooks and other articles in the library, only students with valid IDs are allowed in. As for the work online, we restrict it geographically not that only students on campus can access the work. Long distance students cannot access the work unless they come to campus'.

he librarian informed us that these restrictions were contractual requirements from the database roviders. Generally, there is more lax copyright enforcement with respect to print resources. Copyshops have sprung up, often creating businesses around campus. The university library even ans some. Asked whether copyright impacted access to learning materials, a student participant nentioned that it did, but only to the extent that the resources are local, notably dissertations and neses. Copying of dissertations and theses is generally prohibited or restricted to a few pages at time. However, other options are available for copying of entire documents. The student articipant attributed that to a relaxed copyright environment, where the law is not followed to

the letter. According to him, in countries where the law is followed, copyright indeed impacts on access to learning materials. In Uganda, however, copyright law is either not known or not followed. There is totally;

"a different scenario ... there is no one who will outrightly refuse it [copying] as a wrong thing. I mean the photocopyist will receive me with wide arms, I am bringing him business, no one can limit access to learning materials".

According to the librarian interviewed, while the library has instituted restrictions on copying of lissertations, theses and entire books, students find a way of copying sections of the resource intil they have the entire text. The library, wanting to operate within the law, strategically places notices: 'photocopying machines to partly aid in fair use incidents of reasonable copying'. However, 'sometimes the commercial motive [of photocopy operators] overrides fair use in opyright law'. A student participant attributed the situation to lack of awareness, noting that ecople were generally unaware of the law because they do not access official documents (like the fazette) and national laws. Associating such activities with lack of awareness, while true, is a implistic correlation that does not fully explain the situation. For instance, the student articipant had earlier noted the prohibitive cost of law textbooks that rendered photocopying the nly option for a student with modest means. He noted that:

Inlike in the United States where almost every student can afford, it is not the case here; for xample to access the text book of Wade on Administrative Law, if one goes to one of the rominent bookshops like Aristoc Booklex, the cheapest it is running at in most bookshops is

UGX130 000 [US\$75]. The question is whether that is not out of way for a student? Ordinarily, poor students struggling to pay tuition fees are unlikely to be able to afford such textbooks.

An important dimension to access addressed by both the librarian and the university official is access to internally generated scholarship by faculty and staff at universities. At the moment, significant barriers hinder access to such scholarship. For institutions like Makerere, the biggest public institution currently implementing access initiatives like institutional repositories, copyright presents legal barriers to such initiatives. The librarian noted that 'most owners of copyright are not willing to release their work. They believe copyright belongs to them and tence restricting public access impacts on the Makerere access environment. Our repository has a problem'. Along these lines, we questioned the director of research about electronic open access to scholarly resources, internal or external. This is particularly important in light of the imited access to internally generated research output. He noted that open access, while debated by faculty, had little support due to the negative perceptions of open access resources as not eer-reviewed. The official was keen to learn more about open access given the problems urrently caused by traditional print avenues. Most of the print journals delay faculty publication nd consequently promotions.

CTs were cited as important for accessing content. The librarian indicated that ICTs had made coess and use of electronic resources 'less cumbersome' and that attracted a significant student ser base. More and more resources, observed the librarian, are used by the 'click' of the button. lectronic resources, just like the print resources, are affected by copyright to the extent that CTs make it easier to 'effectively regulate this access to the work'. The library can effectively

restrict access, fulfilling contractual obligations with database providers. Nevertheless, ICTs have had a positive impact on access for they have extended library services to those who prefer to access outside the physical walls of the library.

A key consideration for institutions highlighted by the university official is the likelihood of losing control of intellectual property that might be disseminated through research findings before institutions have had opportunities to formally register for protection with relevant government authorities. Although universities would wish to disseminate research findings, they want to do so with care 'because of our weaknesses like abuse of intellectual property by the bublic'. Makerere has just adopted a policy calling for publications with potential IP information o be made available only after five years, in order to avoid being cheated of IP.

remale students in particular were asked to address the gender dimensions of copyright and access to learning materials. Three law students at different stages of their programmes were nterviewed. Save for the rising costs of photocopying, the three female students did not think opyright affected them simply because they are females. However, these students noted that earts of the university campus were insecure, making it difficult for them to use the library at eight. And strict library regulations on copyright make it difficult for them to copy in the library nd then make use of the materials away from the library. Such situations adversely affect one ender more than the other. Other anecdotal evidence came from the male student and librarian. Both admitted that females were less likely to engage in infringing activities than were males. In ll cases, the participants made it a point to qualify their statements and assessments on gender as eing unscientific with no firm basis besides casual observations and perceptions.

Other themes that emerged from interviews in this category include: institutional policy, innovation and enforcement. At the time of the interview with the university official, Makerere had just adopted its policy on research and IPR management. The policy heavily promotes patenting Makerere's research output with potential industrial application. The motives and justification for Makerere's policy were summed up by the university official:

Of course for long there had been a lot of members of staff particularly concerned by matters of ntellectual property and this affected innovation. Some people had innovated certain things and 'elt that they were not protected and we believe that they were one of the obstacles to people to nnovate, because you innovate and you are not assisted. If there is a protection mechanism, it encourages innovation like for music, drama and many other things.

nnovation and rewarding innovation are the overriding goals of the Makerere policy. It also akes note of the dwindling research funds. Tapping and commercialising the university's IP output are seen as generating income to support and further faculty research and motivate staff to lo more research. However, Makerere's policy has implications for access. According to the miversity official and as mentioned above, the policy calls for delaying by up to five years the lissemination of certain research findings until formal registration with government is complete. Itudents interviewed were unaware of the policy, which is understandable because it was elatively new.

tudents did not feel it was the university's responsibility to enforce copyright. Similar entiments were shared by the librarian as far as the library was concerned and the university in eneral. Interviewees emphasised awareness as a factor that institutions should encourage in

order to avoid litigation and liability. One student pointed out that the photocopying going on unabated was likely to attract a lawsuit because the university was seen as 'aiding abuse of copyright'.

## 3.3 Administrators, Enforcement Agencies or Professionals

The judges interviewed were asked to generally discuss cases, some of which have already been malysed in the doctrinal analysis of this chapter. For these cases, the interview focused on the ationale for the judgments. Also, the interviews touched on a few out-of-court settlements that were not discussed in the previous section. One such case, according to one of the participating udges, involved a local publishing company and some writers (primary school teachers). The publisher hired local writers to write books for primary schools. The publisher used the materials or a tender to supply primary school textbooks under a textbook project of the Ministry of Education and Sports. The project involved the review of titles approved as appropriate for the surriculum. Schools across the country were required to purchase these titles, with funding from the government. Publishers that manage to get their books on the curriculum stand to gain a lot, given the huge market across the country. The writers objected, insisting that mass circulation of their work under the project was not part of the agreement with the publisher. They accused the sublisher of infringing on their copyright. The judge believed that as part of the out-of-court ettlement, the publisher made additional payments for the books.

according to the judge, rights-owners, especially those in literary areas, take action only if they seel economic loss. According to him, this explains why despite the seemingly rampant afringement in Uganda via photocopying, only a handful of cases have appeared in courts. As

an example, he cited a hypothetical instance where a publisher produces 1000 copies of a text. If the rights-holder recoups production fees and makes a profit on the sale of the 1000 copies, that individual or entity is unlikely to oppose infringing activities because they do not impact the market or undercut profits. That said, in reference to photocopying, another judge pointed out that 'there is still a problem of copyright in light of learning materials'. According to him, there were lots of actionable activities that did not make it to court due to ignorance, or the burden of prosecuting infringing individuals that falls squarely on the rights-owner. He anticipated that copyright-related problems affecting learning would increase as people become aware of the law and the book sector becomes more profitable.

When the judges interviewed commented on learning materials, invariably the perception was hat photocopying of protected materials was out of control. Often calling it piracy, the judges uggested that something had to be done at all levels. They suggested remedial actions ranging rom raising awareness to strict interpretation of the law. One judge was of the view that nfringing activities involving learning materials need not receive special treatment simply ecause they are learning materials. One judge spoke about a case he handled relating to extbooks, the *John Murray* case. The judge awarded heavy damages in order to send out a clear ignal to all sectors that copyright was alive in Uganda. Another judge argued that 'unless we the courts] stopped it [piracy], there was a risk of wider pirating; yes it needed to be put to an nd'.

In related matters, the IP lawyer was of the view that photocopying, especially in education ettings, is rampant not because students and faculty cannot afford the materials, but because

purchasing personal copies is not a priority. According to him, many students prefer spending money on luxury items or entertainment rather than academic resources. He feared that someone will likely bring a lawsuit against one of the institutions if only to send a signal that current photocopying practices and levels in that environment are not permissible.

Other issues discussed by the judges and the lawyer included access, awareness, ICT and gender. All four are interrelated. One judge noted that the poor reporting systems make it difficult for aw students and practising lawyers to keep up with rulings on relevant cases. Obviously, if the egal fraternity has problems accessing such crucial information, it is likely to be even more problematic for the rest of the population.

One judge spoke of the tension caused by technology between access and protection of content. He noted that the computer 'can let loose all the copyrighted work, hence creating a big loss to he authors of the work'. Another judge expressed the same concern for ICTs, noting that the Internet is like an international notice board'. This judge feared that the Internet was killing spects of copyright. However, the same judge expressed concerns about TPMs. He noted that he technology that permits access has been used to limit access.

According to another judge, the main problem at the moment is a lack of awareness. He observed hat small businesses using different types of technologies for copying music and literary works lways plead ignorance. He genuinely believes that some individuals are indeed unaware of the aw. Even many artists whose works had been copied for many years were unaware of the law. Iterestingly, this judge added that 'in our traditional law we had no copyright, everything was

shared. Awareness has to be brought about by law. I think the awareness is minimal, but that is our society'.

The research team also wanted to know whether judges and the lawyer encountered more cases nvolving one gender group than another and we wanted to know whether the interviewees felt he law was gender-biased in any way. On the latter, the unanimous response was that copyright aw is not gender-biased.

One judge was very surprised by the insertion of gender issues into a copyright discussion and aid he had never given thought to the idea of the impact of copyright on gender groups. On urther probing, however, he offered what he clearly indicated to be anecdotes, but anecdotes hat hinted at a gender dimension to copyright in Uganda. He mentioned that there were more women plaintiffs in copyright cases he had handled than men and more men as alleged offenders. He cited two cases, one of a female musician (Chance Nalubega) whose songs had been nisappropriated by a recording studio and another (ongoing) where a female fine artist (Annabel Giruta) brought a lawsuit against a male artist for appropriation of her designs. The second case had been ongoing for one and a half years, demonstrating the problem of lengthy copyrightelated litigations for poor institutions without resources to fight prolonged legal battles. That aid, this judge dismissed the gender dimension to access to learning materials, arguing that 'I hink it is neutral so I do not even expect such a question to ever arise. I don't think copyright ffects women or men in any special way'. Another judge concurred with his colleague, but dded that: 'you cannot deny the fact that men are more vigilant [business minded] in many

activities and as a result, therefore, [men] are found in most violation Most ladies have exhibited signs of compliance with the law'.

Consistent with the judges, the IP lawyer was reluctant to make a case for a gender dimension to copyright. But like the judges, he cited anecdotal evidence that men are more risk-taking than women and more inclined to break the law in order to make money. Most of the cases he has handled involved men. He noted that: 'Even at the selling end of CDs there are more men than women. For instance, at the petrol stations there are always some people selling CDs and I have never seen a woman do that.

Finally, for this group of interviewees, amending the laws was not generally felt to be urgent or necessary, especially not in order to facilitate access. There was a sense that as it stands now, access is well facilitated through the fair use provisions. Moreover, evidence of massive photocopying means that access is not a problem at the moment. The judges were of the view hat the current law should be tested, otherwise one ends up with frequent amendments with no mpact on realities.

## 3.4 Copyright-holders

among copyright-holders, the musician was the most sceptical. He offered a bleak assessment of he industry. According to the musician:

lased on research carried out, pirates make UGX280 million [Uganda shillings] per month US\$147 500] on pirated music. Duplication has made music so hard to sell. An empty CD is ow selling at only UGX500. With the easy computer access everyone almost owns a computer

ind it is no doubt that someone can duplicate over a hundred songs in a day. There is need for liscipline to end such behaviour.... Stealing music has become a culture; nobody feels guilty that hey are stealing music.... What happens in Uganda, is that the only way artists can raise money s through stage performances. That is why musicians are constantly seen soliciting for cheap sopularity in order to keep surviving. If I told you that in my latest album of 'Olunaku Luno' I wasn't paid a penny... believe me because you're getting it from the horse's mouth.

What is notable about the above assessment is that it is made by one of the more established, espected and legally informed musicians. His sense of helplessness goes to show the extent of llegal copying of music. This assessment is striking in light of the musician's personal efforts in he lobbying for and the passing of, the 2006 Act which 'makes it more criminal [to engage in llegal activities]'. Two years after the new Act came into existence; the musician was describing situation far different from what was expected of the new strong piece of legislation. According to the musician, some artists: encourage pirates to sell around their music so that they can require cheap popularity, all this is done so as to attract fans to their [concerts]. It takes, or will ather take, a lot of training for the artists to appreciate the need to respect copyright law.

The publishers' representative, on the other hand, offered a sober yet access-sensitive assessment. When asked about the copyright environment in relation to access, he blamed nonopoly rights as responsible for failing to stem illiteracy and failing to improve the poor reading culture in Uganda:

Most of the reading materials are available under exclusive rights making it impossible for wider listribution of works and my organisation cannot easily achieve its goal of universal reading

culture without this. Secondly, the prices of books, especially for secondary schools and general eaders, are high. Most students and parents cannot afford these books. The price could be owered if, say, the IP cost was lowered. NABOTU would like many people to read books but his has not been possible.

As a representative of publishers, it is significant that the NABOTU official considers copyright stumbling block to access and distribution of copyrighted works. It is also interesting that he nakes an explicit connection between book prices and intellectual property, noting that lowering P-related costs will likely lead to lower prices. Of course that connection is more anecdotal than empirical. However, by explaining the hurdles in terms of NABOTU's work, it means that these are based on real organisational experiences rather than personal views. Indeed, his additional comments reflect that position in the context of school textbooks:

The exclusivity of rights generally means that each school can only use the books that they are able to buy. Given the high enrolment rate and the high pupil-to-book ratio, even the state is imited in terms of interventions to reproduce the materials for learners without paying for IP.

t is appropriate to end our impact assessment interview findings with the NABOTU official's houghts on the state of learning materials in Uganda. Consistent with studies in the literature eviewed, he observes that textbooks dominate the book industry:

n conclusion there has been tremendous growth in this publishing segment following the idoption of policies that facilitate fair competition amongst publishers. One of the policy provisions being that for each subject, government allows ... five titles to compete in the schools.

Also it is the responsibility of the schools to make selections of textbooks to use in their schools. As a result of the open policies in textbook procurements, there has been a number of new publishers entering and extending their market shares in a market, which traditionally was dominated by multinational publishers

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

## 4.0 Findings

Findings from the Ugandan study clearly indicate that Uganda's copyright tradition is fairly recent, leading to an environment where copyright is hardly a concern for most Ugandans, save for a handful of scholars, policymakers, artists and administrators.

Findings also point to stark contrasts between the law and practice. For a long time the law was considered weak and outdated. Most scholars attributed piracy and the rampant infringements to hat weak law. In 2006, however, Uganda repealed the 1964 Copyright Act, paving the way for he 2006 Copyright Act, which moved the country closer to meeting international obligations and standards and included measures aimed at stricter enforcement. However, even under the new aw, infringing activities appear to be continuing unabated, much to the consternation of rightsholders.

This study has found that poverty and the high price of learning materials in both electronic and print forms are to a large degree responsible for the practices that disregard the law. This sentiment was shared by interviewees from the educational community (ie students and the ibrarian), as well as the publishing rights-holder representative interviewed. Some of the iterature reviewed also seemed to suggest that there is sufficient evidence to directly link piracy and other infringing activities to poverty and high prices.

t was also found that infringing practices are not the sole preserve of users. The users have bound accomplices in distributors as evidenced by the *John Murray* case and the Lumu study.

Increasingly, distributors find a very high demand for reasonably priced learning materials, thereby finding it tempting to work with unscrupulous printers. It is clear that photocopy operators are also doing good business through provision of cheap and, in some cases, infringing materials.

Rights-holders interviewed called for more crackdowns on illegal activities, as did the judges who participated in the study. And while the judges showed awareness of the needs of learning environments, they felt the main priority ought to be enforcement — in order to send clear signals that copyright in Uganda is working.

The quest by some stakeholders to show, via stricter enforcement, that copyright is functional, as the potential to undermine some of the current primary modes of learning materials access in the country—because, as has already been pointed out, many of the current access practices are llegal.

n addition to the sharp disparities between the law and practice, we also found important gaps in he law itself that could hinder learning materials access. For instance, the law is silent on access for distance learners. The copyright law must not be seen to discriminate based on the emoteness of the learner from the primary learning site. The Copyright Act is also silent on ligital technologies, which are critical to access in tertiary environments. Meanwhile, the ragueness of Uganda's fair use provision creates uncertainty as to how reliable this defence is for libraries, archives and teaching and learning purposes.

Γhus, this study has confirmed the two hypotheses it tested: that the copyright environment in Jganda does not allow maximal access to learning materials; and that the copyright environment n Uganda can be changed to maximise effective access to learning materials.

While the current practices in Uganda allow a fair amount of learning materials access, many of he practices are illegal and thus the copyright environment — as broadly defined in this study to nelude laws, regulations, policies and practices — remains fragile and unfavourable to access to earning materials.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

#### 5.0 Conclusions and Recommendation

In conclusion it is opined that there is room in the Ugandan copyright environment, specifically the law, to further access. The law can do more to advance access for certain interest groups, to accommodate distance learning and to enable use of digital formats for lending and archiving. Additionally, the fair use provision can be clarified, particularly for users in the education and research contexts.

3ased on the findings of the study, the Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) makes the following legal recommendations:<sup>61</sup>

- Specific provisions for certain user groups and institutions should be included in the law,
   notably people with disabilities and distance learning;
- Broadly, any provisions for these groups must take into account digital formats of knowledge material;
- The provision on fair use should be clarified to ease access to knowledge in the
  environments of education, research and the media. Fair use should be sensitive and
  accommodative of a wide range of on-campus copying aimed at furthering knowledge
  consumption and production; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) A study report on copyright and neighbouring rights law (2004) JLRC Publication 9.

The law should allow parallel importation of learning materials. Allowing parallel
importation could open up access to reasonably priced learning materials produced
outside the country.

#### 5.1 Recommendations

Based on the findings of the study, the Ugandan team makes the following policy recommendations:

- Makerere University recently adopted an Intellectual Property Management Policy. We recommend that specific guidelines be established to facilitate the implementation of Makerere's policy. It is further recommended that other universities in Uganda, public and private, adopt institutional Intellectual property rights policies. Such policies should be sensitive to the access needs of students, faculty and researchers.
- We further recommend that Uganda puts in place a comprehensive intellectual property
  policy and strategy that addresses, not just protection of the interests of rights-holders,
  but also the needs of users of copyright-protected resources. The process for devising
  such policy and strategy should include input from all stakeholders, including the
  affected public, especially learners and their facilitators.

NABOTU represents a wide range of stakeholders including rights-holders. We recommend that:

NABOTU be mandated to sensitise publishers and other stakeholders in the book chain to
promote flexible mechanisms for access to learning materials in order to increase
consumption of books by students in Uganda.

Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) is the government agency responsible for legal reform. Part of ULRC's mandate is the development of legislative proposals for the relevant government ministry to introduce in Parliament. We recommend that:

ULRC facilitates the development of a legislative proposal for the review of Uganda's 2006 Copyright Law to address some

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Primary sources
Statutes, regulations and agreements
Access to Information Act 6 of 2005.
Arbitration and Conciliation Act of 2000, Chapter 4 (Cap. 4) of the Laws of Uganda.
Constitution of the Republic of Uganda.
Copyright Act of 1964 (Cap. 215).
Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Act 19 of 2006.
Copyright and Neighbouring Rights Regulations of 2010.
Judicature Act of 1996 (Cap. 13).
Uganda National Information Technology Authority Bill 8 of 2008.
WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPs Agreement) of 1994.

#### Cases

Attorney General v Sanyu Television, HCCS 614/98 (Uganda High Court Civil Suit No. 614 of 1998).

John Murray (Publishers) Ltd & Others v George William Senkindu & Another, HCCS No. 1081/97 (High Court Civil Suit No. 1081 of 1997).

Uganda Performing Rights Society Limited v Fred Mukubira, Misc. Applic. 818/03 (High Court Miscellaneous Application No. 818 of 2003, arising from High Court Civil Suit No 842 of 2003).

Uganda Commercial Law Reports 1997-2001 (2005) Blackhall Publishing, Dublin, Ireland.

Uganda Commercial Law Reports 2002-2004 (2005) Zebra Graphics Ltd, Kampala, Uganda.

#### Other

Government of Uganda Vision 2035: towards a transformed Ugandan society from a peasant to a modern and prosperous country within 30 years (2008) unpublished draft document, National Planning Authority.

#### Secondary sources

Ainebyona, A. The impact of the copyright law on the publishing industry in Uganda: a case study of various publishing houses in Uganda (2006) unpublished BLIS dissertation, Makerere University, Kampala.

Akubu, J. 'Balancing features in Uganda's copyright law' in *Copyright and documentary film in the Commonwealth: legal scholar reports from six countries* (2009) Program on Information Justice and Intellectual Property and Center for Social Media, American University, Washington, DCA available at <a href="http://www.wcl.american.edu/pijp/go/filmmakerpapers">http://www.wcl.american.edu/pijp/go/filmmakerpapers</a> [Accessed 1 April 2010].

Apter, D.E. The political kingdom in Uganda: a study of bureaucratic nationalism (1997) 3ed, Frank Cass, London.

Bakidde-Mubiru, A. Copyright infringement, defences and remedies: the case of Uganda (1998) unpublished LLB dissertation, Makerere University, Kampala.

Bayaraza, E. Evolution of property rights in Uganda: a legal and philosophical analysis of past, present and future trends (2004) Makerere University Printery, Kampala.

Bing, J. 'Intellectual property exclusive access rights and some policy implications' (2002) 42 Scandinavian Studies in Law 31.

Bwengye, F.A.W. The agony of Uganda, from Idi Amin to Obote: repressive rule and bloodshed: causes, effects, and the cure (1985) New York Regency Press, New York and London.

Chapman, A.R. 'Approaching intellectual property as a human right' (2001) 30:3 *Copyright Bulletin*, UNESCOPublishingAvailable

 $\underline{http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001255/125505e.pdf} \ [Accessed \ 1 \ June \ 2010].$ 

Clark, C. 'The answer to the machine is in the machine' in P.B. Hugenholtz (ed) *The future of copyright in a digital environment* (1996) 139 Kluwer Law, The Hague and Boston.

D'Amato, A. and Long, D.E. (eds) *International intellectual property law* (1997) Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Hague and London.

Dreier, T. 'Copyright digitized: philosophical impacts and practical implications for information exchange in digital networks' in WIPO (ed) WIPO worldwide symposium on the impact of digital technology on copyright and neighboring rights: Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States of America, March 31 to April 2 (1993) WIPO, Geneva.

Dusollier, S. 'Electrifying the fence: the legal protection of technological measures for protecting copyright' (1999) 21 *European Intellectual Property Review*.

East African Regional Programme and Research Network for Biotechnology, Biosafety and Biotechnology Policy Development (BIO-EARN) *Managing intellectual property* (2008) Policy Brief 1, January. Available at <a href="http://www.bio-earn.org/Content/news-Feb08 IP policybrief1.htm">http://www.bio-earn.org/Content/news-Feb08 IP policybrief1.htm</a> [Accessed 1 June 2010].

Essler, B.W. *Technological self-help: its status under European law and implications for the UK law* (2002) paper presented at the British and Irish Law, Education and Technology Association 17th BILETA Annual Conference, 5-6 April 2002, Free University Amsterdam. Available at <a href="http://www.bileta.ac.uk/Document%20Library/1/Technological%20Self-Help%20-%20Its%20Status%20under%20">http://www.bileta.ac.uk/Document%20Library/1/Technological%20Self-Help%20-%20Its%20Status%20under%20</a>

European%20Law%20and%20Implications%20for%20U.K.%20Law.pdf [Accessed on 31 May 2009].

Fiscor, M. The law of copyright and the Internet: the WIPO treaties, their interpretation and implementation (2002) Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Ginsburg, J. 'From having copies to experiencing works: the development of an access right in US copyright law' (2003) 50 *Journal of Copyright Society of the USA*.

Goldstein, P. 'Copyright and its substitutes' (1997) Wisconsin Law Review 865.

Hansen, H.B. and Twaddle, M. (eds) *Uganda now: between decay and development* (1995) James Currey, London.

Kakungulu-Mayambala, R. The impact of new technologies on the protection, exercise and enforcement of copyrights and related rights (2006) unpublished LLM dissertation, Lund University.

Kakooza, J. 'Note on the "is" and the "ought" of the law of copyright in Uganda' (2001) 112

Makerere Law Journal.

Kamoga-Matovu, M. Counteracting copyrights and patents infringement in Uganda (2000) unpublished LLB dissertation, Makerere University, Kampala.

Karugire, S.R. Roots of instability in Uganda (1996) Fountain Publishers, Kampala.

Kyemba, H. A state of blood: the inside story of Idi Amin (1977) Ace Books, New York.

Litman, J. Lawful personal use (2007). Available at <a href="http://www-personal.umich.edu/~jdlitman/papers/LawfulPersonalUse.pdf">http://www-personal.umich.edu/~jdlitman/papers/LawfulPersonalUse.pdf</a> [Accessed 4 January 2009].

Lumu, E. The impact of piracy on Uganda's publishing industry: a case study of Kampala New Styles Bookshop Ltd versus John Murray (1999) unpublished MSIS dissertation, Makerere University.

Marks, D.S. and Turnbull, B.H. 'Technical protection measures: the intersection of technology, law and commercial licenses' (2000) 22 *European Intellectual Property Review* 198.

Morris, H.F. 'Sir Philip Mitchell and "protected rule" in Buganda' (1972) 13:2 *Journal of African History* 305.

Mpeirwe, A. 'Sellers of music and video CDs should mind the law' (22 March 2007) *The New Vision*.

Musana, A.W. Intellectual property: the case for copyright law in the economic development process in Uganda (1998) unpublished LLB dissertation, Makerere University, Kampala.

Mutibwa, P. Uganda since independence: a story of unfulfilled hopes (1992) Fountain Publishers, Kampala.

Nassolo, R. *A review of copyright law in Uganda* (2001) unpublished BLIS dissertation, Makerere University, Kampala.

Olswang, S. 'Access right: an evolutionary path for copyright into the digital era?' (1995) 17

European Intellectual Property Review 215.

Onat, Y.A. Copyright protection on the Internet: analysis of an international, regional and nationally based protection (2006) unpublished LLM dissertation, Lund University, Sweden.

Pollaud-Dulian, F. (ed) *The Internet and authors' rights* (1999) Perspectives on Intellectual Property Series, Sweet & Maxwell, London.

Reidenberg, J.R. 'Governing networks and rule-making in cyberspace' (1996) 45 *Emory Law Journal* 911.

Reidenberg, J.R. 'Lex informatica: the foundation of information policy rules through technology' (1998) 76:3 *Texas Law Review* 553.

Samuelson, P. *Technological protection for copyright works* (1996) (draft). Available at <a href="http://www.sims.berkeley.edu/courses/cyberlaw/docs/tech-pro.html">http://www.sims.berkeley.edu/courses/cyberlaw/docs/tech-pro.html</a> [Accessed 31 May 2009].

Sinjela, M.A. (ed) *Human rights and intellectual property rights* (2007) Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Leiden and New York.

Sterling, J.A.L. World copyright law (2003) 2ed Sweet & Maxwell, London. Stone, S. Art and copyright (2001) Hart Publishing, Oxford.

Tabaro, E. Copyright law reform in Uganda: addressing international standards at the expense of domestic objectives (2005) ACODE Policy Briefing Paper.

Torremans, P. Copyright and human rights: freedom of expression- intellectual property-privacy (2004) Information Law Series, Wolters Kluwer Law and Business, Leiden, The Netherlands.

Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) A report of the background study on the legal implementation of the World Trade Organisation agreements (2004) ULRC Publication 32.

Uganda Law Reform Commission (ULRC) A study report on copyright and neighbouring rights law (2004) ULRC Publication 9.

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Human development report 2007/2008: fighting climate change: human solidarity in a divided world (2008) UNDP, Nairobi, Kenya.

Wasula, J. 'A copyright law was passed in Uganda two years ago' (20 June 2008) *The New Vision*.

Wasula, J. 'Is it time to rejoice over copyright?' (22 March 2007) The New Vision.

World Intellectual Property Organisation (WIPO) Implications of the TRIPs Agreement on treaties administered by WIPO (1997) WIPO Publication 464 E.

